2001

Jeanne Schaerrer v. Professional Compounding  
Centers of America, Inc., Stewart Koeven, R. PH.,  
Jeffrey W. Johnson, M.D., American Home  
Products Corp., A.H. Robins Company, INC., and  
Wyeth-Ayerst Laboratories Company, Inc., : Brief  
of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 78-2-(3)(j).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the Utah Liability Reform Act (Utah Code Ann. 78-27-37 et seq.) abrogated the doctrine of implied indemnity and whether the trial court erred in finding that defendants/appellees Stewart's were entitled to indemnity , rather than permitting plaintiff/appellant Schaerrer to have a jury allocate fault among the parties pursuant to the Act.

Standard of Review: The trial court ruling as to whether the Liability Reform Act applies to the facts of this case is a question of law to be reviewed to *de novo*. Slisze v. Stanley-Bostitch, 979 P.2d 317, 319 (Utah 1999).

Issue preserved in trial court: Record at 1095-97; 1175, pg. 20:9-23:1.

2. If the doctrine of implied indemnity survived enactment of the Liability Reform Act, whether the Court erred in granting summary judgment, based upon its finding that Stewart's was entitled to indemnification from PCCA as a matter of law for damages caused to plaintiff by the drug Fenfluramine.

Standard of Review: The trial court's ruling on a grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. Gerbich v. Numed, Inc., 977 P.2d 1205, 1207 (Utah 1999).

Issue preserved in trial court: Record at 1097-99; 1175, pg. 18:4-19:11, 1144-46.



**STATUTE WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS CENTRAL TO THIS APPEAL**

Utah Code Ann. 78-27-37 to 78-27-42 (set forth in full in Addendum

No. 1).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. NATURE OF THE CASE.**

This is a products liability action for damages suffered by plaintiff and appellant Jeanne Schaerrer (“Schaerrer”) for injuries caused by her ingestion of the diet drug Fenfluramine, which she took in combination with Phentermine (a combination commonly known as “fen-phen”). Schaerrer alleges that, as a result of her ingestion of fenfluramine, she suffered severe heart damage requiring open-heart surgery to repair two of her heart valves. The defendants named in Schaerrer’s lawsuit were:

A. American Home Products Corporation, A.H. Robbins Company, Inc. and Wyeth-Ayerst Laboratories, Inc. (collectively the “AHP Defendants”). The AHP Defendants manufactured, marketed and sold fenfluramine in the form of 20 mg Pondimin tablets. Schaerrer ingested Pondimin, and alleges that this drug caused or contributed to her injuries;

B. Appellees Stewart Koeven, R.P.H. and Stewart’s Plaza Pharmacy (collectively referred to as “Stewart’s”). Stewart’s created, marketed and sold a combination fenfluramine-phentermine capsule. Schaerrer ingested Stewart’s combination capsule, and alleges that this product caused or contributed to her injuries;

C. Jeffrey Johnson, M.D., the doctor who prescribed fenfluramine and phentermine to Schaerrer; and

D. Professional Compounding Centers of America, Inc. (“PCCA”). PCCA was a pharmaceutical and pharmacy supply wholesaler, which supplied the raw

fenfluramine powder used by Stewart's in creating the combination fenfluramine – phentermine capsule.

Schaerrer's claims against all defendants, other than Stewart's, have been settled or otherwise dismissed.

## **II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS.**

Schaerrer's complaint was filed on December 10, 1998, against the defendants identified above. (Record at 31.) Schaerrer settled her claims against PCCA, and PCCA was dismissed with prejudice from this action on February 22, 2000. (Record at 509.) (Pertinent provisions of the PCCA Settlement Agreement and Release are set forth below.) On August 21, 2000, Dr. Johnson's unopposed motion for summary judgment was granted, and he was dismissed from the case. (Record at 988.) In September 2000, Schaerrer settled her claims against the AHP Defendants, and agreed to dismiss those Defendants with prejudice. On May 15, 2000, Stewart's filed its first of two motions for summary judgment, contending that it was a non-manufacturing retail seller of prescription drugs and therefore not subject to strict liability. Schaerrer countered that Stewart's activities with respect to the manufacture, marketing and sale of one-a-day fen-phen capsules made Stewart's a manufacturer subject to strict liability, and precluded it from asserting the immunity to strict products liability claims normally available to retail pharmacists. On September 1, 2000, the trial court denied Stewart's motion, finding that there was evidence from which the jury could find that Stewart's acted as a manufacturer by creating and marketing a product not otherwise available, thus

subjecting it to strict liability. (Record at 1003-08; see also, Addendum, No. 2.) On October 18, 2000, on Stewart's motion the trial court reconsidered its September 1, 2000 Order and granted "partial summary judgment" to Stewart's, precluding plaintiff from putting on evidence that the combination of fenfluramine and phentermine by Stewart's into a single capsule created a more serious risk of harm than using the drugs separately. (Record at 1057-58.) Stewart's brought a second motion for summary judgment, contending that it was, as a matter of law, entitled to indemnification by PCCA and that, pursuant to Schaerrer's settlement with PCCA, her claims should be dismissed. This motion was granted by the court on January 25, 2001. (Record at 1175). The trial court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment dismissing Schaerrer's claims against Stewart's on April 30, 2001. (Record at 1154-61; see also Addendum, No. 3.) This appeal followed.

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS.**

As of June 1995, Jeanne Schaerrer was in good health with no chronic health problems, other than being overweight. (Record at 869, pg. 14:24-15:2, pg. 16:15-24.) In June 1995, she had a discussion with defendant Jeffery Johnson, M.D. about using medication to help her lose weight. (*Id.*) Thereafter, Fenfluramine and Phentermine were prescribed to Schaerrer by Dr. Johnson, and ingested by Schaerrer during the period from June 1995 through June 1997. (Record at 776-817.)

Schaerrer obtained Fenfluramine from two different sources, each implicating different defendants. Initially, she had prescriptions filled at Woolsey's

Pharmacy (not a party to this action). (Record at 776-799.) The Fenfluramine product supplied to Schaerrer by Woolsey's Pharmacy was in the form of 20 milligram Pondimin (Fenfluramine) tablets manufactured by the AHP Defendants. (Id.) Generic Phentermine was supplied to Schaerrer by Woolsey's Pharmacy in a separate capsule (id.). The manufacturers of the generic phentermine capsules supplied by Woolsey's are not parties to this action. Schaerrer was instructed by Dr. Johnson to take one Pondimin tablet three times per day and to take one phentermine capsule once per day. (Record at 816, 866, pg. 71:25-72:10.)

In October 1996, Schaerrer heard from a friend who was employed at a physician's office (not Dr. Johnson) about a "one-a-day fen-phen capsule" available from Stewart's. (Record at 701-703.) Schaerrer consulted with Dr. Johnson, who had never heard of one-a-day fen-phen. (Record at 854, pg. 51:1-52:22.) Nevertheless, Dr. Johnson prescribed Stewart's compounded fen-phen capsules to Schaerrer at her request. (Id.) Dr. Johnson testified that he never did any research or independent investigation regarding the safety and efficacy of Stewart's one-a-day fen-phen capsules. (Record at 853-854, pg. 52:22-53:14.) Dr. Johnson testified that he assumed that Stewart's had determined the safety of the one-a-day capsule as compared with the Pondimin product. (Id.) Schaerrer filled prescriptions at Stewart's for one-a-day fen-phen on five separate occasions between November 1996 and June 1997. (Record at 611.) In early 1997, Schaerrer began experiencing symptoms of dizziness, nausea and chest pain. (Record at 863-65.) A few months later, following evaluation by her doctors it was found that she had suffered severe heart valve damage, requiring open heart

surgery to repair two heart valves. (Record at 859-62.)

In May of 1996, Stewart Koeven invented one-a-day fen-phen capsules, by combining raw Fenfluramine powder obtained from PCCA, Phentermine powder from capsules manufactured by other pharmaceutical manufacturers, Methylcellulose (a purported time released agent) and Lactose (a filler). (Record at 687, 692-693.) Koeven testified that he developed the product to be taken once daily, to combat what he saw as patients' lack of compliance with the typically prescribed regimen of fenfluramine three times a day. (Record at 680, 687-692.) Stewart Koeven performed no testing as to the safety and efficacy of his product, and as far as he knew, no one had ever prepared or tested such a product as of May 1996. (Id., also see Record at 846-51.) Prior to preparing the one-a-day fen-phen capsules, Koeven never consulted any physicians nor conducted any research regarding the safety or efficacy of his new product. (Id.) Before receiving a single prescription for compounded fen-phen, Koeven prepared "office use capsules" which he supplied to local physicians for experimental use on their patients. (Id.)

There is expert testimony in this matter on the subject of pharmacy practice and procedure, provided by Bruce Woolley, PhD. Dr. Woolley's testimony is uncontroverted. Dr. Woolley testified regarding Stewart's actions with respect to one-a-day fen-phen, and testified unequivocally that Koeven's actions were not those of a compounding pharmacist but rather were the actions of a pharmaceutical manufacturer researching and conducting a clinical trial of an experimental drug. (Record at 824-830.)

The foregoing facts were among the evidence considered by the trial court

in its decision denying Stewart's first summary judgment motion. The Court summarized its findings of fact as follows:

The Defendant pharmacist combined the prescribed fenfluramine with other substances: phentermine, which was prescribed, and a filler and a time-release agent which were not. The combination of these drugs into a single "one a day" capsule was the idea of the Defendant and was marketed by him to patients of local physicians by word of mouth. The court must assume, and Defendants concede that in considering this motion, defendants acted as a manufacturer. [footnote omitted] Defendants provided no warnings to the Plaintiff's physician about potential side effects, etc. for this new drug combination. . . . (Record at 1007; see also Addendum No. 2.)

Based upon the evidence, the Court determined that the jury could find that Koeven acted not as a pharmacist, but as a manufacturer by "creating and marketing a product not otherwise available." (Record at 1004.)

Stewart's second motion for summary judgment contended that Stewart's is entitled, as a matter of law, to indemnification by PCCA, and that given the terms of Schaerrer's settlement agreement with PCCA, Schaerrer has waived her right to recover damages from any party obtaining indemnification from PCCA. The relevant provision in Schaerrer's settlement agreement with PCCA is set forth below in full:

In exchange for the consideration paid to Plaintiff and as part of the Release granted to PCCA, Plaintiff specifically agrees that she will not seek to recover from PCCA any damages attributable to PCCA's proportionate share of fault, if any, which may be determined under the applicable provisions of the Utah Liability Reform Act, Utah Code Ann. § 78-27, et seq. In addition, Plaintiff agrees that, to the extent that any party to the lawsuit or any other tortfeasor, person, or entity obtains a final judgment against PCCA for contribution or indemnity for damage arising from the subject of this Lawsuit, Plaintiff waives her right to recover from said party, tortfeasor, person, or entity any damages up to and including the total amount of the judgment against PCCA for indemnity. Plaintiff further agrees subject to approval of the

court, that PCCA need not participate further in defense of itself in this action, even for the purpose of having fault and/or indemnity determined. (Record at 1090; see also *Addendum No. 3*)

The trial court ruled that Stewart's was entitled to indemnification as a matter of law from PCCA, and entered a judgment of dismissal with prejudice of Schaerrer's claims against Stewart's on that basis.



## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The primary issue in this appeal is a determination of the proper method for allocating fault among joint tortfeasors under Utah Law. Utah's Liability Reform Act (Utah Code Ann. 78-27-37, et seq.) ("the Act") was enacted for the express purpose of insuring that a party is not held liable to an extent greater than its degree of fault. The trial court's ruling granting summary judgment was a determination that the common law doctrine of implied indemnity, rather than the Act, was the proper method for allocating fault in this case. However, because implied indemnity is, like the Act, a device for reallocation of damages according to degree of fault, the Act rendered the doctrine of implied indemnity redundant. Implied indemnity previously had been expressly recognized by Utah's Comparative Fault Act, which was repealed and replaced by the Liability Reform Act in 1986. The Liability Reform Act eliminated the express recognition of indemnity claims, and made that doctrine unnecessary. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment based upon implied indemnity, because the Act places the apportionment of liability within the province of the trier of fact.

Even assuming the doctrine of implied indemnity survives and is applicable after enactment of the Liability Reform Act, the trial court's ruling granting summary judgment was error under the circumstances of this case. Stewart's is a pharmaceutical manufacturer subject to strict liability for marketing and selling a defective drug without adequate warnings. It is not entitled to indemnification under the cases relied upon the trial court, which require the manufacturer of a product to indemnify a "passive" retailer

or seller of that product in a products liability case. Under the facts of this case, as explicitly recognized in the trial court's previous order denying summary judgment, there is evidence in this case from which Stewart's can be found to have been acting as a pharmaceutical manufacturer, and not merely a passive retailer passing along a defective product. Moreover, the authorities cited by the trial court in support of its ruling are inapplicable to this case involving strict products liability claims against a pharmaceutical manufacturer. The trial court erred in ruling that Stewart's was entitled to indemnification by PCCA as a matter of law.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. UTAH’S LIABILITY REFORM ACT REPLACED THE COMMON LAW DOCTRINE OF IMPLIED INDEMNITY AS THE METHOD BY WHICH LIABILITY IS ALLOCATED AMONG JOINT TORTFEASORS**

Utah’s Liability Reform Act (Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-27-37 *et. seq.*)

(hereinafter referred to as “the Act”) was enacted in 1986. At the same time, the Utah Legislature repealed the Comparative Negligence Act. As argued below, this change in the law replaced a system that used principles of joint and several liability, contribution and indemnity to allocate liability among the parties with a statutory scheme giving the trier of fact the responsibility for making that allocation.

#### **A. Implied Indemnity Is A Method Of Allocating Liability According To Degree Of Fault**

An examination of the theoretical underpinnings of the doctrine of implied indemnity is useful to understanding how the Liability Reform Act replaced implied indemnity. At common law (and indeed under the repealed Utah Comparative Negligence Act), multiple tortfeasors were jointly and severally liable. One of several tortfeasors could thereby be held liable for all of a plaintiff’s damages, regardless of his own proportion of the fault. The concepts of contribution and indemnity developed as ways for jointly and severally liable defendants to recover from one another by shifting liability according to relative fault. See *e.g.*, Restatement (3rd) of Torts, Apportionment of Liability, § 10, comment e, §§ 22-23 (2000).

Contribution is a method by which one tortfeasor may bring a separate action for recovery from other joint tortfeasors, if the former has been required to pay

damages to a plaintiff in an amount greater than his proportion of fault. Restatement (3rd) of Torts, Apportionment of Liability, § 23 (2000). Implied indemnity is a related but distinct doctrine which requires full reimbursement of one tortfeasor by a joint tortfeasor, where the former has satisfied a common liability. Id., at § 22. The right to indemnity may arise by statute, by contract, or may be implied at law. Implied indemnity was generally available to defendants who were only vicariously liable, or who were not independently culpable for the harm caused to plaintiff. Id. Utah courts have recognized that implied indemnity arose from equitable principles of restitution, which provide: “A person who, without personal fault, has become subject to tort liability for the unauthorized and wrongful conduct of another, is entitled to indemnity from the other . . .” Restatement of Restitution, § 96 (1937), cited by Hanover, Ltd. v. Cessna Aircraft Corporation, 758 P.2d 443, 445 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Traditionally, implied indemnity and contribution were distinct concepts, in that indemnity permitted full reimbursement from a co-tortfeasor while contribution involved some apportionment of damages. However, Utah courts have recognized the “important, common foundation” of these doctrines: “they attempt to ensure that parties are not held unfairly liable to an extent greater than their degree of fault.” National Services Industries, Inc. v. B.W. Norton Manufacturing Company, Inc., 937 P.2d 551, 554 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). Under a system of joint and several liability, a joint tortfeasor’s only opportunity for a fair distribution of loss was through a contribution or indemnity action. In Utah this changed with the 1986 enactment of the Liability Reform Act.

**B. The Liability Reform Act Eliminated The Need For Contribution And Implied Indemnity Actions.**

The question of whether implied indemnity survived enactment of the Act should first be examined by comparing that Act with the previous statutory scheme. In 1986, the Utah Legislature repealed the Comparative Negligence Act, (Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-37 to § 78-27-43), and replaced it with the Liability Reform Act, (Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-37 to § 78-27-43, as reenacted). Stephens v. Henderson, 741 P.2d 952, 953 (Utah 1987). The repealed Comparative Negligence Act expressly recognized the doctrines of joint and several liability and implied indemnity as defining, in part, the allocation of liability among a plaintiff and several defendants. The former section 78-27-41 provided, “Nothing in this Act shall affect (1) the common law liability of the several joint tortfeasors to have judgment recovered, and payment made, from them individually by the injured person for the whole injury, (2) any right of indemnity which may exist under present law... [Emphasis added]”

The entire statutory scheme for allocating liability among joint tortfeasors contained in the Comparative Negligence Act was repealed and replaced by the Liability Reform Act. The Liability Reform Act contains no provision like former § 78-27-41(2), which expressly recognized existing rights of indemnity. The reason for this is clear: claims of implied indemnity are no longer necessary under a scheme based on the central tenet that “[n]o defendant is liable to any person seeking recovery for any amount in excess of the proportion of fault attributed to that defendant . . .” Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-38(3). In another words, use of implied indemnity to ameliorate the harsh

result of joint and several liability by redistributing loss according to fault is no longer necessary under a system that, by its very terms, prevents any party from being held liable for more than its proportionate share of fault. The Utah Legislature's repeal of former section § 78-27-41(2), and failure to recognize any right of implied indemnity in enacting the Liability Reform Act, strongly suggests that implied indemnity is now unnecessary, if not completely eliminated.<sup>1</sup>

The Utah legislature, by enacting the Liability Reform Act and eliminating joint and several liability, embraced the "important common foundation" of contribution and implied indemnity. This foundation is incorporated in the Act which declares in unambiguous terms that "no defendant is liable to any person seeking recovery for any amount in excess of the proportion of fault attributed to that defendant . . ." Utah Code Ann. 78-27-38(3). Instead of the prior system in which joint tortfeasors were jointly and severally liable and which required contribution or implied indemnity claims to redistribute the loss, the Act provides for the distribution of loss according to the relative culpability of potentially responsible parties in a single action. This is accomplished by requiring the trier of fact to allocate proportion of fault to any person who contributed to

---

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