2001

Jeanne Schaerrer v. Professional Compounding  
Centers of America, Inc., Stewart Koeven, R. PH.,  
Jeffrey W. Johnson, M.D., American Home  
Products Corp., A.H. Robins Company, INC., and  
Wyeth-Ayerst Laboratories Company, Inc., : Brief of  
Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

#### **Summary of Argument Applicable to Schaerrer's Appeal.**

The findings of fact made by the trial court on April 30, 2001 should be entirely accepted by this Court because there has been no appropriate challenge to such findings. Schaerrer has not identified a challenge to such findings in her brief, and in any event, has failed to meet the marshaling of evidence requirement to make such a challenge.

These findings of fact, along with the trial court's unchallenged earlier findings when granting partial summary judgment to Stewart's, establish the correctness of the court's eventual ruling granting complete summary judgment to Stewart's. Where plaintiff concedes that a defendant's conduct did not materially alter a product claimed to be effective, then that defendant is entitled to indemnification from those who supplied the product to the defendant. This well established principle was not altered by the Utah Liability Reform Act.

## **Summary of Argument Regarding Stewart's Cross-Appeal**

Traditionally, pharmacists have been considered immune from claims of strict product liability when they fill a valid prescription for a drug, and the pharmacist does not alter the drug in any material way. Stewart's raised this immunity to Schaerrer's claims. The trial court rejected this argument based upon the chance that a jury could conclude that Stewart's was a "manufacturer" and not a "pharmacist" because Stewart's combined phentermine with fenfluramine in a single capsule. Stewart's contends that the trial court exalted form over substance. While Stewart's activities combining fenfluramine and phentermine in a capsule might be considered by a jury to be consistent with the activities of a manufacturer, those activities have nothing to do with this case. There is no evidence that the combining of phentermine and fenfluramine altered the fenfluramine consumed by Jeanne Schaerrer in any way. There is no evidence that Stewart's "manufacturing" activities caused injury. It was Stewart's role as pharmacist (a seller of drugs prescribed by physicians) that formed the basis of Schaerrer's claims and as a pharmacist, Stewart's is immune from Schaerrer's claims.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I**

##### **THE COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE UNCHALLENGED.**

The trial court's findings of fact (Add. tab 3) should be accepted by this Court as controlling for this appeal. Schaerrer has not identified a challenge to such findings of fact in her brief, and has made no effort to marshal the evidence that would

support the findings of fact. In the absence of appropriate marshaling of the evidence, the trial court's findings of fact should be accepted as controlling by this Court. *Hales Sand & Gravel v. Audit Div.*, 842 P.2d 887, 893 (Utah 1992); *Christensen v. Monns*, 812 P.2d 69, 72 (Utah 1991); Rule 24(a)(9), **Utah R.App.P.** The trial court's findings in its memorandum decision of October 18, 2000 should also be accepted as controlling because those findings are not the subject of Schaerrer's appeal. (*Record at* 1163, 1164, Schaerrer's Notice of Appeal.)

Each of the trial court's findings of fact are significant. For example, the trial court found that Stewart's had asserted an effective claim against PCCA for strict product liability common-law indemnification, and that the validity of the Release executed by plaintiff, including the provision relied upon by the court to grant summary judgment to Stewart's, was unchallenged. The trial court found that: "No evidence was submitted to the court to suggest that the terms of the PCCA Release should not be enforced according to the ordinary meaning of its plain and unambiguous terms." (Add. tab 3, ¶ 8, Findings of Fact.) According to those plain terms, if Stewart's is entitled to indemnification from PCCA, Schaerrer waived her right to recover from Stewart's. This point is established and uncontested. Further, the court found that Stewart's so-called "manufacturing" activities did not cause Schaerrer's injuries and Schaerrer conceded this point. (Add. tab 2; tab 3, Finding of Fact no. 2.)

## **POINT II**

### **STEWART'S IS ENTITLED TO INDEMNIFICATION FROM PCCA.**

#### **A. The Limited Nature of Stewart's Liability.**

In this case, the trial court's unchallenged finding is that Stewart's did nothing that caused plaintiff injury **except** sell her fenfluramine. There is no evidence in this case that a breach of the standard of care by Stewart's caused injury. There is no evidence in this case that the combining of fenfluramine with phentermine caused injury. There is no evidence that Stewart's so-called marketing efforts caused Schaerrer's injuries. There is no evidence that Stewart's lack of warnings regarding the one-a-day capsule caused injury. There is no evidence that Stewart's altered in any material way the fenfluramine that it purchased from PCCA. The fenfluramine supplied by Stewart's was in no way more dangerous or more likely to cause injury than was the fenfluramine supplied to plaintiff by anyone else. (Add. tab 3, trial court's Findings of Fact.) The **only** claim that plaintiff had against Stewart's which was supported by evidence was the claim that Stewart's should be strictly liable purely because of Stewart's presence in the chain of distribution of fenfluramine. It is only because the doctrine of strict product liability allows plaintiff to recover from every entity within the chain of distribution that plaintiff has a claim against Stewart's. No other claims were supported by evidence of causation. (Add. tab 3, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment; and Memorandum Decision Add. tab 2.)



**B. Stewart's is Liable, if at all, Only Because Everyone in the Chain of Distribution Is Jointly Strictly Liable.**

Even though joint and several liability was generally eliminated by the Utah Tort Reform Act in 1986,<sup>2</sup> when a plaintiff asserts a claim of strict product liability, everyone in the chain of distribution of the allegedly defective product is jointly liable with everyone else in the chain of distribution for injuries caused by the product. *See* Restatement (Third) Torts, § 1, and comments b through e; Restatement (Second) Torts, § 402A(1) and comment f.

Historically, the reason that everyone, from the manufacturer who created the defective product, to the retail seller entirely ignorant of the product's defect, was liable for 100 percent of plaintiff's injuries is that the injured party may have no connection or contact with anyone other than the entity from whom the product was purchased and the injured party must rely upon the retail seller for an assurance of safety. *Id.* Sellers are liable for defective products sold "even though [the seller] has exercised all possible care in the preparation and sale of the product." Restatement (Second) Torts, § 402A, comment a. Without this traditional doctrine of joint liability, Jeanne Schaerrer would have no claim against Stewart's in this case. She has no evidence to support any other claim. All of her other claims based upon Stewart's alleged manufacturing activity,

---

<sup>2</sup> Joint and several liability was eliminated in Utah with the adoption of the Utah Liability Reform Act, U.C.A. § 78-27-38 (1986); most other states have likewise eliminated joint and several liability and have adopted a comparative responsibility approach of one form or another. *See* Restatement (Third) Torts, § 23 Contribution, Reporter's Note comment e, and the cases collected.

fail because of a lack of causation evidence. No evidence was submitted to the trial court, and none exists, that anything that Stewart's did or didn't do, however that conduct might be characterized, caused Jeanne Schaerrer's injuries except that Stewart's sold fenfluramine to Jeanne Schaerrer.<sup>3</sup>

**C. Upstream Indemnification Is a Necessary Element of Strict Products Liability**

Historically, everyone downstream (assemblers, wholesalers, retailers) from the original producer of a defective product has been entitled to obtain indemnification from everyone upstream. This principle strikes an appropriate balance between providing the injured party with the opportunity for recovery from anyone in the chain of distribution, and still allowing those in the chain of distribution to pass liability up the chain towards entities best able to eliminate defects.<sup>4</sup> The Supreme Court of New Jersey concisely explained this principle in *Promaulayko v. Johns Manville Sales Corp.*, 562 A.2d 202 (N.J. 1989). The court stated:

This approach is consistent also with the principle of focusing on the defective product as it proceeds down the chain of distribution. In general, the effect of requiring the party closest to the original producer to indemnify parties farther down the chain is to shift the risk of loss to the most efficient accident avoider. (citations omitted.) Passing the cost of risk up the distributive chain also fulfills, as a general rule, the goal of distributing the risk to the party best able to bear it.

---

<sup>3</sup> Of course, there are exceptions to the principle that liability extends to everyone in the chain of distribution. One of those exceptions would apply if the fact-finder in this case determined that Stewart's is a pharmacist, and not a manufacturer. *Coyle v. Richardson-Merrell, Inc.*, 584 A.2d 1383, 1387-1388 (Pa. 1991) (and the many cases cited therein).

<sup>4</sup> Though Schaerrer voluntarily waived that right in this case.

*Id.* at 206. It is “well settled” that this same principle allows a downstream manufacturer who incorporates, by assembly or otherwise, a defective component part into a finished product to obtain indemnification from the suppliers of the defective component. *See Rowland Truck Equip. Inc. v. Everwear Prod., Inc.*, 468 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1985) wherein the court stated:

The law is well settled that when a manufacturer of a finished product is held strictly liable for damages caused to a third person by a defective component part that was purchased from a supplier and integrated into the finished product, the said manufacturer is entitled to recover indemnity from the party supplying the defective component part, provided the manufacturer was not himself negligent in either creating or failing to discover the defect.

*Id.* at 394; *Jones v. Arrow Chem.*, 680 F.Supp. 338, 340 (D. Mont. 1987); *Coca-Cola Bottling Co. v. Reeves*, 486 So.2d 374, 379 n. 4 (Miss. 1986); *Kicklighter v. Nails By Janai, Inc.*, 616 F.2d 734, 739 (5th Cir. 1980); American Jurisprudence 2d at Vol. 63B, Products Liability, § 1748 (1997).

Therefore, if Schaerrer proved that fenfluramine is defective, then Stewart’s would be entitled to indemnification from PCCA because PCCA supplied to Stewart’s a defective component part; i.e., fenfluramine.

In response to these well established principles, plaintiff raises two arguments.

First, plaintiff argues that upstream indemnification is not available in Utah because the Liability Reform Act “eliminated the need for . . . indemnity.” (Schaerrer’s

Brief beginning at p. 15.) Plaintiff's argument proves too much. Indemnification in the context of a strict product liability claim arose because those farther down the chain of distribution are considered just as liable to the injured party as those up the chain of distribution. Without that concept, plaintiff has no claim against Stewart's. If the Utah Liability Reform Act eliminated this joint chain of distribution liability, there would be no need for indemnification, but there would also be no legal basis for Schaerrer's claim against Stewart's. If, however, joint chain of distribution liability survived the enactment of the Utah Liability Reform Act, then chain of distribution indemnification must also survive the Liability Reform Act. The exact same reasons which led courts to acknowledge chain of distribution indemnification before the elimination of joint and several liability generally, are still just as applicable because the elimination of joint and several liability did not eliminate joint chain of distribution liability. This simple proposition has led courts to uniformly reject the argument Schaerrer is asserting before this Court. *Degener v. Hall Contracting Corp.*, 27 S.W.3d 775, 780 (Kent. 2000); *Rotono v. Access Indus. Inc.*, 26 Conn.L.Rptr., 274, 2000 WestLaw 151231 (Conn. 2000); *Horowitz v. Schneider Nat'l, Inc.*, 992 F.2d 279, 280-81 (10th Cir. 1993). This Court should likewise reject Schaerrer's argument.

Furthermore, Schaerrer's suggestion that the jury's ability to apportion fault between Stewart's and PCCA is a substitute for indemnification simply doesn't make sense in light of the underlying principles of strict product liability. Assuming Schaerrer could establish a defect, both PCCA and Stewart's are one hundred percent liable for

plaintiff's injuries because they were both in the chain of distribution. The liability of both PCCA and Stewart's occurs by operation of law and it is, in practical effect, joint and several. The jury, given the available evidence, would have no basis to apportion fault between PCCA and Stewart's. Even if this could somehow be accomplished, whatever percentage of fault was assigned to Stewart's would still trigger PCCA's indemnification obligation.

Schaerrer's second argument is that even if indemnification exists, it should not exist in this case. To support this argument plaintiff now asserts that Stewart's failure to warn of risks of the one-a-day phen-fen capsule or that Stewart's mis-marketing of this product or the fact that Stewart's role wasn't "passive" could support independent claims by Schaerrer against Stewart's. This argument overlooks the fact that Schaerrer conceded and the trial court's unchallenged ruling establishes that Stewart's did nothing to alter the drug in any way. There was absolutely no evidence presented to the trial court that either "failure to warn" or "mis-marketing" of the one-a-day phen-fen capsule caused injury. The trial court indisputably found that the "one-a-day phen-fen capsule" presented no greater risk of injury or harm than taking the drugs separately. Therefore, there can be no causal connection between a failure to warn of the risks of the one-a-day capsule, or mis-marketing of the one-a-day capsule, or other "active" conduct and plaintiff's injuries. There can be no strict liability or other fault without causation. *Burns v. Cannondale Bicycle Co.*, 876 P.2d 415, 418 (Utah App. 1984); *Kent v. Pioneer Valley Hosp.*, 930 P.2d 904, 906 (Utah App. 1997); *Fitz v. Synthes*, 990 P.2d 391, 393 (Utah 1999). The

record contains no such evidence and therefore, those claims couldn't be submitted to the jury. *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433 (Utah 1996).

### **CONCLUSION**

(Schaerrer's Appeal)

Stewart's respectfully urges this court to affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment as described in the trial court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment. (Add. tab 3.)

### **CROSS-APPEAL**

#### **POINT I**

#### **STEWART'S IS IMMUNE FROM SCHAEERRER'S CLAIMS OF STRICT PRODUCT LIABILITY.**

The issue presented by Stewart's Cross-Appeal appears to be a matter of first impression in the United States. Long-standing legal principles are, however, closely analogous.

Traditionally, pharmacists have been considered immune from claims of strict product liability relating to alleged defects in the drugs they provide customers pursuant to prescriptions. *See, Coyle v. Bonnet Lane Pharmacy*, 584 A.2d 1383, 1387-1388 (Pa. 1991). The Pennsylvania Supreme Court thoroughly addressed the underpinnings of the historical immunity afforded pharmacists for alleged defects in prescription drugs. The court noted that pharmacists do not choose which drugs they

supply and therefore, pharmacists should neither be liable for defects in those drugs, nor should pharmacists be required to warn of the drugs' dangers. The role of choosing drugs and supplying information regarding those drugs is more properly served by physicians.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court stated:

Unlike the marketing system for most other products, the distribution system for prescription drugs is highly restricted. Pharmacists, as suppliers do not freely choose which products they will make available to consumers in any given instance, and patients, as consumers, do not freely choose which products to buy. Physicians exercising sound medical judgment act as intermediaries in the chain of distribution, preempting, as it were, the exercise of discretion by the supplier pharmacist and within limits, by the patient consumer.

*Id.* at 1385. The court also noted that holding pharmacists strictly liable for defects in drugs would not serve the underlying purpose of strict product liability, that of improving the safety of products. The Pennsylvania Court reasoned that regardless of which drug is prescribed, the pharmacist is not:

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